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l. Introduction

The City of Stockton contracted with Architectural Resources Group (ARG) to survey historic
structures within the vicinity of downtown Stockton. The survey area was defined by the City’s
Request for Proposal as bounded by Fremont Street at the north, the Southern Pacific Railroad at
the east, Washington Street at the south, and Center Street at the west. A second, smaller survey
area is located to the west of Center Street and is bounded by Center at the east, Washington
Street at the south, Lincoln Street at the west, and Weber Street at _the north. The inventory
evaluates individual resources and historic districts usiﬁg the criteria of the National Registef of
Historic Places (National Register) and the California Register of Historical Resources
(California Register), as well as the Cultural Preservation Landmark Criteria identified in

Stockton’s Planning and Zoning Code.

Located within San Joaquin County, the City of Stockton, founded by Charles Weber and
incdrporated in 1850, currently has an apprdximate population of 243,600. The region’s scenic
environment is dominated by the Delta waters. ‘Stockton’s historic and culturai resources are a
diverse collection of buildings, sites, objects, districts, cultural laﬁdscapes, and archaeological
sites that relate to varied historic contexts. These include resources with statewide and national

importance, as well as resources of primarily local significance.

Stockton has a rich and diverse history. The early settlement pattérns of the late nineteenth and
early twentieth century are still visible within Stockton today. There are many resources that
relate to the historic contexts ass_bciated with Stockton. Within the survey area there are ten
resources listed on the National Register. In add‘ition., _theré are ten resources listed on the
California Register, as National Register-listed resources are automatically entered into the
California Register (California Code of Regulations Title 14, Chapter 11.5, Section 4851.3).

Lastly, there are seventeen resources that have been designated Stockton Landmarks.

li. Methodology

The research design and methodology for the project was outlined by the consultant during the
course of the project and incorporated guidelines recommended by The Secretary of the

Interior’s Standards for Preservation Planning and Developing Historic Contexts. In addition,
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National Register Bulletin 24: Guidelines for Local Surveys: A Basis for Preservation Planning
was consulted while developing the research design. Further discussion of the research design is

in the following section.

For this project ARG conducted a reconnaissance survey, and researched properties for
recordation on the appropriate State of California recordation forms (DPR 523 or DPR 523 A-L
serles) In addition, a context statement was formulated based on the findings of the survey,
identifying such themes as historic settlement patterns, agricultural and commercial development
as well as transportation developments and architectural trends. ARG has undertaken this
project in accordance with The Secretary of the Interior'sv Standards for Preservation Planning

and ldentification, Evaluation and Registration of Historic Resources.

Ill. Reconnaissance and Intensive Survey

ARG staff members conducted a reconnaissance survey during April, 1999. This included a
windshield survey of the project area as defined in the Réquést for Proposal. During the
reconnaissance survey a list of over 200 buildings to be surveyed at the intensive level was
developed. This list was formulated from field observations regarding age of resource and level
of integrity remainin’g.- 1t was thve goal of the survey team to develop DPR forms those buildings

within the survey area over 50 years in agé and that retained integrity.

Based on the fact that portions of the northern end of the survey area are residential in character,
the intensive survey focused on buildings between Lindsay Street to the north, the railroad tracks
to the east, Washington Street to the south, and El Dorado Street to the west. Most of the
resources documented at an intensive level were located within this concentrated area. Several
resources did, however, fall outside these bpuhdaries. The intensive-level documentation placed

an emphasis on commercial buildings, with some residential and civic buildings also surveyed.

One of the survey goals was to formulate a general picture of the distribution of different
building types and architectural styles, and of the character of different areas of downtown
Stockton. Notes on the buildings, structures, and landscape features were taken during the
reconnaissance phase. Closer inspection was made on foot where needed. The survey team

carried Sanborn Maps of Stockton from the years 1895, 1917, and 1950 to corhpare with present
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day streetscape configurations. Black and white, as well as color photographs, were taken of

each resource surveyed at the intensive level.

Using the information collected during field visits and research sessions, ARG completed DPR

forms assessing individual resource significance, as well as district contributors.

IV. Archival Research

For the purposes of this project the collections of the Stockton San Joaquin County Library, the
Haggin Museum, the San Joaquin Historical Society, the University of California, Berkeley, the
~ San Francisco Public Library, the California Historical Society, and a number of on-line research

collections were consulted.

The published work Stockton: Sunrise Port of the San Joaquin, by Olive Davis, was a valuable
resource for information concerning the history of the area. Published in 1998, this book covers
a wide range of issues relating to the histbry and development Stockton. The research
undertaken for this volume was extensive. The bibliography and information included within the

publication proved especially informative during the formulation of the context statement. _

Detailed maps of the survey are especially helpful to the surveyor. The Sanborn Map Company
produced maps of municipalities for fire insurance purposes from the 1860s through American
involvement in World War II with some mapping continuing to the present. The importance of
the Sanborn Map Company dwindled during the 1950s and 1960s for numerous reéson's,'
including new, less expensive methods to document properties. However, Sanborn Maps have
become valuable resources for researching and documénting historic‘properties. Several
Sanborn Maps exist for Stockton including the years 1895, 1917, and 1950. Copies of these
maps were obtained from microfilm through the University of California, Berkeley for use in the

survey and development of the context statement.

Assessors’ records from San Joaquin County were searched through computer files at the City of
Stockton Planning Department. Unfortunately, these records did not give a date of construction

for the buildings.
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City directories for Stockton were used at the Stockton Public Library. These cross-directories
provide a street guide listing each building and its resident or business, as well as an alphabetical
listing of residents with occupation noted in many cases. Classified advertisements in these

directories also provided valuable in_fonnatiéﬁ for the commercial properties surveyed.

The ARG survey team searched the property files from previous survey efforts located in vertical
files at the Stockton Public Library. Relevant information was photocopied from these files.
Library resources, as well as secondary sources, are identified in the bibliography at the

conclusion of this document.
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V. Historic Contexts

Cultural resources surveys can not be fully complete without linking resources to their associated
historic contexts. The establishment of historic contexts is vital to targeting survey work
effectively. In order to be able to make significance evaluations for resources within downtown

Stockton, several historic contexts were identified and developed into a context statement.

Historic contexts are broad patterns of historical development in a community or a region that
may be represented by historical resources and can be identified through consideration of the
history of individual properties or groupings of properties within the surrounding area. The
establishment of these contexts provides the foundation for decision-making concerning the
planning, identification, evaluation, restoration, registration, and treatment of historic properties,
based upon comparative significance. Historic contexts can be developed for all types of
resources including, but not limited to, buildings, sﬁuctures, objects, sites and historic districts.
The methodology for developirig historic cohtexts does not vary greatly with different resourcé
types and they may relate to any of the four National or California Register criteria, as well as

the criteria for local landmarks in Stockton.

At the core of historic contexts is the prerhise that resources, properties, or occurrences in history
do not occur in a vacuum but rather are a part of larger trends or patterns. The following pages
outline the relevarit historic contexts for the survey area and historic resources present within the

vicinity.

Context: Exploration and Settlement
Many of the first European pioneers in central and northern California were fur trappers. One of

the earliest trappers was Jedediah Strong Smith, who established a base camp southeast of
present-day Stockton in 1827. Not long after Smith established this settlement, the Hudson’s
Bay Company sent trapper Alex McLeod to California. McLeod traveled south as far as the
future site of Stockton, and camped at what later became known as McLeod Lake. Not all of
these early trappers were Americans; in fact, several Frenchmen; including Michel LaFramboise,
camped near Stockton. The LaFramboise settlement still bears the name French Camp and is

located south of Stockton.
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In 1832, John Work led a large party of trappers to the San Joaquin Delta for the Hudson’s Bay
Company. Upon their arrival in the region, many in Work’s party were sick with a fever that had
claimed several lives during the journey. Work’s company skirmished with native. tribes, who
were likely infected with the visitors’ fever. The Native Americans did not have any resistance
to European illness and were greatly impacted by these diseases. Later parties traveling through
the region noted that the valley was significantly depopulated of Native Americans, likely as a

result of infections brought by these first trappers. -

In 1836, John Marsh arrived in California and purch@sed Jose Noriega’s Mexican land grant,
establishing one of the area’s first cattle ranches. Marsh felt strongly that Califorxﬁa shéﬁld_ be
part of the United States, and he wrote letters to mény easterners encouraging them to migrate
‘westward. Also intrigued by the possibilities of this new territory, John Sutter, of Swiss descent,
came to California in 1839. Sutter was given permission by Mexican authorities to establish a
settlement and fort in the Sacramento valley. It was felt that this fort would provide a barrier
between the Mexicans and those who eyed their territory, namely the Americans, Russians and

British.

The development of Stockton can largely be attributed to the energy and perseverance of Captain
Charles M. Weber. Born in Steinwenden, Germany in 1814, Weber came to America in 1836.
By 1841, Weber had joined one of the first overland parties to California, where he soon
obtained employment at Sutter’s Fort. In 1845, Weber acquired 55 square kilometers on the east
side of the San Joaquin River, in what would soon become the city of Stockton. Weber utilized
this land and developed a small settlement that he named after the American Navy Officer
Commodore Robert F. Stockton who was responsible for driving the last Mexican forces out of
California in the late 18405_.t Weber had part of his land surveyed by Walter Herron for
development of é town site. The streets and lots set out in the 1840s (é district bounded by
Weber Avenue, Center, Main, and Commerce Streets) formed the core of Stockton, and remain

to this day. Portions of the town’s original grid compose part of the survey area for this project.

The Mexican-American War began in April 1846 over territorial disputes in both-Mexico and

California. In July of that year, American forces, commanded by John Drake Sloat, peacefully
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took Monterey and raised the American flag. When the war ended in Febi’uary of 1848, Alta
Califomnia officially became part of the United States. Unbeknownst to the Mexican
government, gold was discovered near Sacramento only nine days before the Treaty of
Guadalupe-Hidalgo was signed. Soon, California, now under American rule, would see an
incredible influx of gold seekers from around the world including many Americans migrating

from the east coast.

- The growth of Weber’s town, Stockton, increased following James Marshall’s discovery of gold

- at nearby Coloma. As a result, the Stockton Channel became a port of call for sailing vessels and

steamers delivering thousands of gold seekers and supplies to this new mining area. Weber’s
investment offered him a rich return. On July 23, 1850, the City. of Stockton was officially
incorporated and soon began to assume a cosmopolitan appearance. With the city becoming the
supply cénter for nearby mining establishments, the refinement of the city’s infrastructure
became necessary. Public and private Buildings, streets, and public parks were coﬁstructed to
accommodate the increased population. The city limits extended to the current streets of Flora,
Aurora, Edison and Anderson Street. - Stockton’s role as the county seat for San Joaquin County
also influenced development. Thée county courthouse was constructed in 1854 and'was offered

for use as the State Capital, however, the State declined the City’s proposal.

Eager to profit from the gold discovery, Weber and a group of settlers formed the Stockton
Miniﬁg Company, selling supplies for considerable profit to miners near the future site of
Placerville. In September 1848, Weber returned to Stockton and set up his own mercantile store.
As the Gold Rush attracted ever-increasing numbers of prospectors to California, Stockton
became the gateway to, and major supply post for, California’s southern mining arcas. By the
fall of 1849, it was estimated that Stockfon had approximately 1,000 residents.? In five years, the
city’s population expanded to 7,000 and an active commercial and industrial center began to take

shape.’

Context: Commerce and Industry
Railroad and deep water channel access made Stockton a major transportation center and

provided the basis for the City’s commercial and industrial development which led to dramatic
population growth--up to 23,000 residents by”the 1890s.* Captain Charles Weber knew when he
founded Stockton at the head of the San Joaquin River channel that the city would benefit from
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the nearby, strategic water route. Boats brought men upriver to participate in gold mining, and
then brought them back with their riches to San Francisco:and beyond. A sizable agricultural
community has kept Stockton’s port busy warehousing and shipping produce and grains to

markets since the mid-nineteenth century.'

Traditionally, the majority of Stockton’s major businesses have been related to the processing,
growing, or transportation of agricultural products or the manufacfure of agricultural equipment.
Matteson & Williamson, one of the earliest farm equipment manufacturers, was located near
présent-day California and Main Streets in the 1830s. In the 1870s, they invented the
replaceable plow share, and later recei:ved a patent for the Cornbined_ Harvester—two machines
-that forever changed farming. The Combine was later produced by Holt Brothers
Manufacturing. The Holt Brothers Manufacturing Company was incorporated in 1§92,

producing harvesting equipment and other machinery for Stockton’s farmers.

By the 1850s, the Sperry Flour Company was processing 2,000 barrels of flour in a season for
Stockton’s farmers, and soon became the area’s largest milling company.’ Sperry’s brick
administration building, built-in 1888, is now a Stockton Historical Landmark. When the

company moved to Vallejo in 1925, many jobs were lost.

Stockton continued its rapid growth through the turn of the twentieth century, and began to carry
out many civic improvements to sustain thi_s comrne_réial and industrial growth. Electric trolleys
replaced carriages and electric street lights replaced gas. By 1906, eighteen miles of dirt or
wood plank roads had been permanently paved in cobblestones and asphalt.® Due to the
increased use of the automobile in the 1910s, salesrooms developed along “auto row” at El

Dorado and Miner Avenue, and service sfations were constructed throughout the city.

The 1906 San Francisco earthquake did not result in considerable damage in the Stockton
vicinity. However, the community members sent supplies by boat to San Francisco. Many
Californians displaced by the earthquake came to Stockton to seek refuge from their damaged
communities. The majority of these individuals were of Chinese descent. By July of 1906,

Stockton’s Chinatown had 5,000 residents, making it the largest in California.’
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A series of floods from 1903 to 1907 prompted the construction of a Diverting Canal directing
water from the Mormon Slough east of Stockton back into the Calaveras River. Despite these
floods, the first decades of the twentieth century were rharked. by a Stockton building bodm,

~ particularly in downtown commercial buildings. In 1906 the Stockton Savings and Loan Society
built the city’s first skyscraper at San Joaquin and Main Streets. Four other multi-storied

buildings had been completed by 1917.

In 1910, the elegant Hotel Stockton was erected at the head of the Stockton Channel between
North El Dorado and North Hunter 6n Bridge Street, émd. became famous for its views of Mount
Diablo.® Dozens of other hotel buﬂdings, both grand and modest, were completed around this
time, catering to an influx 6f travelers brought by the railroad, and changing the face of
downtown Stockton. Much of the labor on farms was provided by‘ migrant workers, who needed
inexpensive temporary housmg. This demand contributed to the prevalence of one of the
downtown area’s most common building types: a two- to three-story residential hotel with
commercial space on the ground floor. These masonry buildings usually have some Classical
revival detailing, and supported an often transient population in the once thriving agricultural
and transportation hub of the Central Valley. Many of these buildings remain today. A
corhparison of the 1895 and 1917'_'Sanb6rn Maps reveals that many hbxﬁes in central Stockton
were converted to hotels and temporary residences. This building boom also resulted in the
development of a new building type and planning tool: the residential subdivision constructed in

and around Stockton by local developers.

- The end of World War I resulted in several changes to Stockton’s economy. When Holt
Manufacturing converted to tank produétioh during the War, the Best Tractor Company took
over the farm machinery market. After the War, Holt was plagued with financial difficulties,
and merged with Best to form the Caterpillar Tractor Company. The new company relocated its
headquarters to Peoria, Ilinois in 1925 and Stockton was left without a major farm equipment

manufacturer.

- In 1871, an attempt had been made to construct a deeper channel from Stockton to the Pacific
Ocean, to accommodate larger boats. Lack of government funding as well és_thc commencement

of World War I delayed the project until 1927. The new canal was dug to a depth of 26 feet, and
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provided hundreds of jobs during the Depression. The Port of Stbckton officially opened in 1933

as California’s largest inland port.

By 1933, the expanded Deep Water Channel and the City’s Port facilities enabled large-scale
international shipping access to Stockton. This economic boon, combined with other substantial
construction projects, lessened, but did not eliminate, the impacts of the Depression in the
.Sto.ékton regid_n. Significant privately and publicly-funded building continued into the 1930s,
and included a movie palace, railroad depot, a rﬁus_e_:um, post office, and county hospital—among

others. Stockton’s first supermarket was built at El Dorado and Harding Way in 1939.

While the impact of the Depression was diminished in this region, many families and individuals
were affected by the nation’s economic downturn. Many women from Stockton families were
employed in local canneries and packing sheds. A large Filipino population immigrated to
Stockton in ;he 1930s, settling iﬁ the western part of town, near Chinétown. Filipiho men made
up the majority of the farm labor at the time. Many midwesterners came to Califormia in search

of farm work. Stockton’s agricultural community offered these individuals a chance for success.

The beginning of World War II brought further opportunities for local industry with the local
econofny benéﬁting from wartime manufacturing needs. The _military developed an Army Air
Force base ét Old Stockton Field and the Stockton Naval Supply Depot. Manufacturers built and
maintained army équipment, and ship building became the main local industry, employing up to
10,000 workers at one time.” Nine Stockton shipyards worked full-time to support the War
effort.'"” The older yards such as Colberg Boat Works and Stephen’s Brothers, and newer
companies like Hickenbotham and Pollock Shipyard, built sectional dry docks, transport ships,

rescue boats, patrol boats and other small ships.

The War caused a severe labor shortage for farmers, who subsequently relied on labor from
Mexico to harvest crops. This government-sponsored prograin brought thousands of farmers
from impoverished regions of Mexico to workr_'on American farms, largely in Texas and

- California. The program entitled the Mexican workers to earn American dollars. Known as the
Bracero Program, it ended in 1964, but served as the foundation for what has remained a large

population of Mexican migrant workers in California.
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After World War I, the Port of Stockton struggled to regain its earlier status as a major center of
commercial shipping. Ship sizes increésed and the channel was again too shallow to support
much of the traffic. Stockton industry slowly shifted back to production of farm machinery and
commercial boats. Civilian shipping to and from Stockton had been suspended during the War,
resulting in the community’s lessened importance as a transit center.- Many Port businesses re-
focused efforts to warehousing goods, adding storage facilities for oil, iron, and other materials.
By the 1970s the Port ran into significant financial and ofganizational troubles. Due to delays
because of environmental concerns, no dredging occurred until 1983. The Port updated much of
its 'eq4uip_ment, and expanded to accommodate heavier boat traffic, now docking up to ten ocean-
going cargo ships at a time, In the 1980s, the Stockton Channel also became épopular
destination for pleasure craft. Several new restaurants were built along the waterfront, as well as
a variety of housing developments and a éhopping mall. 'Throughout all its changes, the Port has

remained a major defining feature of the City of Stockton.

In the 1950s, Stockton’s housing boom resumed north of the Calaveras River, with recreational
facilities, schools, and streets gaining major improvements. Additionally, the second largest
grain terminal on the west coast opened at the Port of Stockton creating more job opportunities.
However, major areas of Stockton had become blighted and like other American cities, Stockton

planned and executed a large urban renewal project during the 1950s and “60s.

The mayor appointed an Urban Blight Committee in 1955 to study problems in the old center of
Stockton. Stockton’s historic downtown underwent major redevelopment in the 1960s as part of
the West End Renewal Project. With the exception of three buildings, nine square blocks were
completely demolished in 1964. Chinese and Filipinos—previous majority residents in this
district—were given priority in reBuilding, and were responsible for coﬁstructing new
community associations, restaurants, retail, housing, and offices. The destruction of Skid Row
meant a sudden lack of low-cost housing for farm _labdrers._ Stockton’s more affluent residents

moved to the north, leaving the center of town.

Downtown continued to struggle as shopping malls were being developed in North Stockton,

drawing merchants and shoppers from the city center. To counteract this economic drain, the
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city replaced several demolished bﬁildings with new parking facilities, but shoppers still found
little reason to make the trip downtown.!! Other changes included a Holiday Inn constructed at
Weber Point, and the County’s conversion of fhe Hotel Stockton into offices while the old
Courthouse was razed and a new building constructed. Increased traffic required several major
road improvements and led to the construction.of the Crosétown and Interstate 5 freeways
through Stockton. Recent economic conditions in Stockton have further impacted the downtown
and many buildings are vacant. However, it is hoped that with current rehabilitation projects
such as at the Hotel Stockton, that a révitalized downtown will include the reuse of many other

historic buildings. -

Context: Civic Improvements
The latter part of the nineteenth century saw the completion of new projects throughout the

community including a new court house constructed in 1890. In 1893, a new red brick jail was
finished in the medieval revival style ét San Joaquin and Channel Streets. A new grammar
séhool, as weil as many commercial buildings, were also constructed of locally-made red brick
during this period. In fact, brick Was such a common building material that during the

substantial growth of the 1880s and 1890s, Stockton became known as “The Brick City.”"

At thé beginning of the twentieth century, many American cities were redefining their
communities by constructing grand boulevards, new public spaces, and civic buildings as part of
an architectural and planning movement called the City Beautiful. Stockton completed several
major civic projects during this time. A library with a marble facade was constructed at Hunter
and Market Streets in 1895. Then in 1926 a new Civic Center was defined by the construction of
a Civic Memorial Auditorium, dedicated to Stockton’s War dead, and the new City Hall in 1927.
Local architect Glenn Allen, having built several major hotels and schools in Stockton, along
with Ivan Satterlee and Wﬂliém Wright, were reéponsible for the desi gn of the Beaux-Arts style
Auditorium. City Hall was dAesigned by John Upton Clowdsley, Peter L. Sala, Joseph Losekann,
and Davis-Heller-Pearce of Stockton. Three parks, McKinley, American Legion, and Stribley,
were also built in the late 1920s. 1n 1933, a new Post Office building by San Francisco architects
Bliss and Fairweather, and Stoékton’s How,ardbG. Bissell bbasted two W.P.A. murals in its
lobby. Typical of California’s Beaux-Arts civic centers was a focus on landscape design and
gardens, and Stockton was no exception, with green lawns and trees framing the grand civic

buildings.
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Context: Agriculture
Agriculture has been a constant and often profitable prospect in San Joaquin County. The rural

areas around Stockton have continuoﬁsly been explbited by farmers since the city’s founding. In
the 1870s, the county’s farmers cultivated over 130,000 acres of _grain.s.l3 In the twentieth
century, farmers also began to plant the soft peat soil in the San Joaquin Delta west of the city.
Farmers began to grow vegetables and nuts, and planted fruit orchards, in addition to grains. A
Japanese immigrant named George Shima becérhe known as the “Potato King” for his thriving
potato fields on the San Joaquin Delta. The continued success of local farmers was due in large
part to excellent soil conditions, and the great inventiveness and technological advancement of

Stockton’s agricultural machinery industry.

During the second half of the 19th century, agriculture took the place of gold mining in
Stockton’s economic development. Wheat and other grains were the most abundant local crops.
Stockton claimed the largest grain warehousing facilities outside Sén_ Francisco and local milling
companies eliminated the need to import flour. The largest single milling organization was
Sperry Flour Company, whose brick headquarters building, constructed in 1888, at Weber

Avenue and Madison Street—one of the landmarks within the survey area.

The manufacture of agricultural tools also becamne a major industry in Stockton by the end of the
nineteenth century, Several new inventions revolutionizing farming techniques were developed
within the community. The Stockton Gang Plow improved on previous small plows operated by
one man and 2 horse, as it was larger, pulled by a horse team, and capable of tilling several rows
simultaneously. The Marvin Combined Harvester (commonly known as the combine), a
machine which could harvest and thresh fields of grain, saving {ime and labor, resulted in a more
efficient harvest. Numerous iron works and rnahufact_uring companies were sustained by the
farm machine industry. The Stockton Wheel Company, later the Holt Manufacturing Company,
was founded by the Holt brothers in Stockton in 1883, and thrived on the bustling local
transportation, agriculture and commerce industries. Holt Manufacturing, led by well-known
inventor Ben Holt, produced farm machinery, the design of which was influenced by the needs of

local farmers,
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The community showed pride in the surrounding, thriving agricultural industry in 1888 when the
San Joaquin Valley Agricultural Association built an Agricultural Pavilion in Stockton’s
Washington Square. Designed by architect Charles Beasley, the Pavilion was thought to be one
of the most beautiful buildings in the city, housing exhibits and displays, as well as hosting
numerous concerts, and festivals."* A grand structure of wood and glass, it reﬂected the nearby
Chinese community in some of its details. The Pavilion was the largest building in Stockton

until it was consumed by a 1902 fire that resulted in the first loss of a Stockton firefighter’s life.

Stockton has become famous for its walnut production, in large part because of the efforts of a
single company: Diamond Walnut Growers. Walnut trees were first brought to California by
Spanish missionaries, and thrived in the Delta climate. In 1912 a group of walnut farmers
formed the California Walnut Growers Association, now Diamond Walnut Growers, the largest
producer of nuts in the country. Since its start, Diamond Walnut Growers has grown into a
major national corporation with annual sales of over $220 million.”” Diamond Walnut was the
first nut company to promote its brand stamping each walnut shell with a Dlamond symbol
Diamond has expanded its brand to include a wide variety of ingredient nuts available to a wide
market The Diamond plant in Stockton encompasses approx1mately 13 acres and processes

almost half of the United States’ walnut crop each year

During the early twentieth century period, farmers began to plent fruit orchards and vegetable
fields in addition to grains, and shipped their prOdﬁce by rail for sale elSewhere. Farmers were
planting west of Stockton_on the Delta’s soft peat soil. As a result, machine shops began to
produce new specialized equipment for these diverse farms. Farming and manufacturing
continued to be the focal point of the local ecdnemy through World War I, when many farmers
reaped the benefits of record-high produce prices. The local manufacturing and milling
industries were also impacted as they aided in supplying the War effort. At the turn of the
century, Benjamin Holt, of Holt Manufacturing, invented a special wheel system to help farm
machinery navigate the soft Delra soil. This track—laying traction system, powered by a new
lighter gas engine, was later dubbed the Caterpillar locomotive system. Holt’s popular
Caterpiliar tractor attracted the Army’s interest and he was asked to apply this technology to

armored vehicles, or tanks, for use in battle.. Holt produced the undercarriage and engines, nsing
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the Caterpillar traction system to aid the massive vehicles in movement over a wide variety of

terrain for greater flexibility in battle.

Despite occasional difficulties during the Depression and World War II, agriculture and related
industries (machinery, etc.) have always been a driving force in the Stockton area economy.
Farmers had a difficult time in the 1980s due to high interest rates, but in th'e 1990s annual
income from raw agriculture in San Joaqﬁin County was well in excess of $1 billion.
Agriculture is now California’s top industry, and the farmers of San Joaquin County greatly
contribute to that status.

Context: Architecture
Within the survey area there is a mix of residential, commercial, and ecclesiastical building types

with the majority of the residential .structures within a cohcentrateci area north of the eastern
portion of Channel Street. -Along the core streets of the downtown ¢ommercial area (Weber,
Main, and Market), there arc a signiﬁcant number of resources that reflect Stockton's
commercial enterprises. Stockton’s Civic Center, inciuding City Hall, a Civic Auditoriﬁm,
Public Library, park, and Post Office, is located at the far western edge of the district, mostly
west of El Dofado, and between'Fremoﬁt_ Street and Weber Avenue. The period during which
the bulk of construction occurred in downtown Stockton ranges from the 1880s, when the
construction of substantial commercial buildings commenced, to the late 1930s when the number

of commercial buildings constructed diminished.

Historically located in close proximity to the city’s port, Stockton’s business district was initially
supplied by the ships docking along the waterfront. With the introduction of rail service, this
district was further expanded, and by the conclusion of the nineteenth century, the city was
poised for increased commercial activity as a hub of transportation and agriculture on the Delta.
The Sperry Flour Mill Warehouse and Offices were built in 1875 and 1888, respectively, and
represent the flourishing local agriculture industry. The earliest hotel building in the district, at
the comer of Bridge'and Channel, dates from the 1860s. Several additional hotels were
constructed in the 1880s and 1890s, meetiné an increased demand for temporary housing created
by the arrival of railroad service.- Consistent with the construction boom at the end of the
nineteenth century, most single—family residences near the downtown area date from the 1890s,

and form a concentration of Victorian residential architectural design.
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Stockton’s reconstruction after devastating floods in 1907 resulted in a new burst of commercial
activity. Five high rise buildings were constructed in downtown Stockton between 1910 and
1917. Several of these buildings remain, inclﬁding the Medico-Dental Building, California

" Building, and Bank of Stockton. A second, more intense, period of hotel and apartment building
construction took place in the 1910s, including the Hotel Main, Hotel St. Leo, Yale Apartments,
and many others. Many two to four-story.commercial structures were aiso completed during this
period, as is evidenced on the 1917 Sanborn Map. of the area. Similarly, garages, lodge
buildings, banks, and various commercial structures were erected in the downtown core area

during the first decades of the 1900s. Many of these structures remain in the survey area today.

Stockton’s most prolific architectural practice headed by Glenn Allen and Charles Young
designed many of the city’s distinguished buildings during the first three decades of the
twentieth century. Buildings attributed to Allen in the survey area include the elaborate Second
Empire style Henery Apartments at .121 South Sutter Street (1913), and the elégant Gothic
Revival style Union Safe Deposit Bank at 327 East Main (1924).

New construction in the downtown area had all but stopped by the 1930s. Nearly all the lots in
this busy and desirable part of town were already built upon, and the Great Dépression meant a
general slowing of the local economy. One notable exception is the extravagant Spanish Revival

style Fox Theater, built with bond funds on Main Street in 1930.

In general, within the survey area there exists a high concentration of multi-storied rﬁasonry-
constructed hotel buildings which served Stockton’s transient work force. Other common
building types are one-story garages, bank buildings, theaters, club buildings such as the
Mason’s and Elk’s building, as well as a number of smaller commercially-used buildings with
office or residential space at the uf)per stories. The vast majority of commercial buildings in the
downtown area are of brick masonry construction, contributing to Stockton’s historic reputation
as the “brick city.” Various textures and patterns of bricklaying provide much of the ornament

on these buildings, in some cases augmented by terra cotta details or an elaborate cornice.
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In the 1950s and 1960s, many of the commercial buildingé in downtown Stockton were
remodeled. Virtually all of the muiti-story commercial buildings have been altered on the
ground floor, but many remain relatively intact.ébove the storef_font level. Ground floor
alterations include everything from additional awnings or signage, to new siding (false stone
mﬁsonry or stucco are common), to reconfiguration of windows, which often includes covering

over mezzanine lites.

Despité alterations and neglect due to a .lagg_ing local economy, Stockton’s downtown retains a:
significant collection late nineteenth- and éarly twentieth-century corhmercial and residential
buildings. The prevalence of certain building types, namely the hotel and two- to three;story
commercial building, are indicative of the-needs of this once bustling center of agriculture,

industry and transportation in California’s Central Valley: -

Context: Transportation
With the arrival of the railroad and access to faster, less expensive shipping routes for local

goods, commerce and industry flourished in Stockton after 1869. Copper from nearby
- Copperopolis was a major export during the later part of the 1860s. The copper industry made

" great use of the new railroads, as did many other local industries.

San Francisco became the western terminus of the transcontinental railroad. From there a
Central Pacific frack ran to Stockton, just east of the city, and theh on to Sacramento. The first
passenger train arrived at Stockton in Auguét 1869. By the following year, a much-desired rail
spur connecting the original rail lines to the Stocktoﬁ waterfront was established, and a deﬁot _
was constructed at the corner of Weber Avenue and Center Street. It was not until 1898,
however, that Stockton had a direct rail connection to the east coast, offered by the Atchison,
Topeka and Santa Fe Railroad (until then, passengers traveled to San Francisco in order to
purchase a long distance eastbound ticket). The Western Pacific Railroad further enhanced

Stockton’s rail service when it b_égan servicing the area in 1910.

The completion of the railroad lines also impacted the local population. The thousands of
Chinese laborers who constructed the rail system were forced to find other employment once the
tracks were completed. The well-established Chinese community in Stockton soon found work

as farm laborers, mill wofkers, merchants, laundry workers, and domestics. By the 1860s, a
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substantial Chinatown had developed near the chanﬁel, between El Dorado, Market, Hunter, and
Washington Streets. The Chinese Exclusion laws of the 1880s led to the decline of many
Chinese-owned businesses, The farming industry, however, relied on the Chinese community as
a source of inexpensive labor, and supported the continued employment of the Chinese, and

other immigrant cultures, within the community.

Context: Important Community and Civic Organizations
Community and civic organizations have held great importance in Stockton since its early days.

Inthe 1880s, Stockton had a number of churches to support its growing population. St. Mary’s
Church, built in 1861 and the third-oldest Catholic church in California, founded its own small
school. In 1883, the grand and imposing Masonic Temple was built near the head of the
Channel, and remained the largest building in Stockton for over a decade. An omnate brick
buiiding, it had shops on the ground floor, a public hall on the second, and private meeting rooms
on the third. The Masonic Temple also housed the city’s public library for several years, until a
separate library could be built. In 1908, the Stockton branch of the Elks buiit a lérge building
downtown. It boasted an enormous meeting room on the top floor, which had an omate stained
glass dome originally intended for the San Francisco Elks, but sent to Stockton after the 1906
earthquake. Though the original Masonic Temple was-razed in 1931, a new Temple had been
built in 1921 at Market and Sutter Streets. This and the Elks Building remain prominent features
in the downtown area to this day. Several early churches, including St. Mary’s and St. John’s
Episcopal, have retained their positions as important social. and architectural elements in the

Stockton community.

Context: Heath and Medicine
In 1851, a bill was passed establishing three California hospitals for indigent sick. Stockton was

the location of one of these newly funded hospitals. The legislature found that separation from
family and friends, disastrous enterprises, sudden reversal of fortunes, rigors of mining life, and
unsettled conditions were some of the causes for mental illness in California and that there was
no system to deal with these conditions. The th_ree hospi_tals were established as fhe State Marine
Hospital in San Franciséo, the Sacramento State General Hospital, and the Stockton State

General Hospital.
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The Stockton State Hospital was started in a wooden building located on the corner of El Dorado
and Market Streets. It was a small building With approximately twelve rooms. Due to the over-
crowded conditions in hospitals throughout California, the legis.lature‘passed a law in 1852,
ordering the separation. of the physically ill from those with mental disorders. In accordénce
with the new law, 124 patients were sent to Stockton. In 1853, the state legislature ordered the
closure of the State Hospital at Stockton and created the Stockton State Insane Asylum. Asa

result, a search for a site to house this new specialized facility was initiated.

Martinez and Benicia, towns near San Francisco, had-b@ep anxious to secure the new State |
Insane Asylum, but Stockton was the successful bidder. Captain Weber’s donation of one
hundred acres along Stockton’s California Street, helped influence the official’s decision."”
Stockton was also considered an ideal location because of its mild climate and its central
_locafidn to San Francisco, Sacramento, and the mining areas." On October 8, 1853, the patients
were mo_.v_ed from fented'quarters 1n downtown S_tocktoﬁ to the riew_ asylum building, creating the
first publicly supported psychiatric faciiity west of fhe Missis_sippi.'g Located north of présenb
day downtown, this facility has played a significant role in Stockton’s history and has continued

“to Servé the community until just recently. During the 1970s, the asylum was reorganized into a
Developmental Center, which was closed in 1996, The historic site and buildings were dedicated
as Cali_forni_a Historical Landmark #101 6 in 1996, the same year the facility transferred to

California State University, Stanislaus, for use as a Multi-Campus Regional Center.

Context - Ethnic Heritage / Cultural Groups

Native Arnericans
The Native American presence in the archaeological and cultural record in San Joaguin County

is strong. For the purposes of this project our focus was on historic buildings and structures
which were built after the Native American period; however a brief overview of Stockton’s pre-

histéry is appropriate here.

Archaeological records indicate that the earliest native peoples inhabited this area of the San
Joaquin River Delta region by 2,500 BC. The first principal inhabitants of this region were
Utian-speaking people (ancestral Miwok and Costanoan). These individuals flourished here until

about 500 years ago when they were d_isplhced by the Northern Valley Yokuts. Penutian-
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speaking Yokuts occupied an area extending roughly from the Sierra foothills north to the

Calaveras River and south to the upper San Joaquin River.

" “The Penutian peoples eventually divided into several separate tribes; those in the Yokut an&
Miwok language groups lived at the Stockton Channel head, near the future site of the City of
Stockton. There are archeological indications of several Native American villages in and around
Stockton. Food iﬁ this region was plentiful, anc_i appears to have supportéd an atypically large
native population, compared to other areas of California. .It_ is estimated that there were
approximately 25,000 Native Americans living along the lower San Joaquin River prior to

Eﬁropean' contact, with the average village supporting approximately 200 individuals.

By the 1780s, Spanish explorers arrived in the Delta region. Spanish missionaries (padres) also
ventured into the area in search of Indian converts. Their presence led to violence against and
among Native Ainerican tribes, and Europeans unknowingly introduced foreign diseases to the
region that impacted the native populations. By the _ear'ly‘ 1850s disease, war and displacement

from their hunting and fishing grounds had brought the Yokuts to virtual extinction.

~ Other Cultural Groups Active in Stockton _
Through time, Stockton’s population and representative cultural groups have both increased and

diminished based on economic and other factors shaping the community. Each of the cultures
that came to Stockton has contributed to the intricate multi-cultural fabric of the cit};. Itisa
complex history of parallel, independent and integrated associations. Each of these groups and
their individual histories is reflected in Stockton’s neighborhoods and cdntempbrary population.
~ The context themes discussed in this document identify the impact of cultural groups on '
Stockton’s history and each group’s participation in the overall growth of economic, political,

and other institutions comprising the framework for discussing Stockton’s history.

After the Mexi_can-American War, Stockton bége_m to have a notable Hispanic community, many
of whom were employed as mule teamsters transporting lumber and other goods. Mexican-
American cultural festivals became a feature of early Stockton life. The Hispanic population
continued to grow steadily for the next hundred years, with a maj or increase during World War

I1, when workers immigrated from Mexico to work on California farms.
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During the 1850s, political and economic turmoil in China combined with the promise of
fortunes made in the California Gold Rush, brought thousands of Chinese from the Kwantung
Province to California. When Stockton began building levees for flood control and farm
protection in 1852, Chinese as well as Native American and Polynesian laborers were hired to
shovel the fill dirt and build the four-foot high dike along the river. By the 1860s, hundreds of
laborers laid off from the railroads and mines moved to Stockton, and worked as farmers or
started boarding houses, shops, laundries, gambling hails, and other businesses. By the 1880s,
Stockton had the third largest Chinese population in the state. In 1882, however, the Chinese
Exclusion Act became law, and Japanese, Sikh, and Filipino immigrants began to replace the
Chinese as packing house workers, farm laborers, and domestic servants from the 1890s through
the 1920s. The Filipino community was so large that by the 1920s, Stockton was known as the

“Manila of California.”

World War II had a significant social impact on Stockton. After the Japanese bombing of Pearl
Harbor, frequent acts of aggression occurred against Stockton’s Japanese community, Early in
1942, under order from President Roosevelt, all persons of Japanese ancestry on the west coast
were temoved from their homes and sent to inland holding camps. The San Joaquin County
fairgrounds Were_oonverted to the Stockton Assembly Center, which temporarily housed all of
Stockton’s Japanese-Americans. Later that year, thousands of Japanese-Americans from the
Assembly Center were sent to 2 camp at Rohwer, Arkansas for the duration of the War. Many
families lost their property, possossions, land leases, aod houses while interned. Mexican
workers replaced the Japanese-Americans on many local farms. After the war, however, many
interned families chose to resettle in Stockton and the Central Valley. Today, Stockton isra
diversified, active, growing community. The ethnic population includes approximately 44%

Caucasian, 25% Hispanic, 21% Asian, 9% African-American and all others 1%.
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VI. Historic District Assessment

A component of the survey evaluation was an assessment of potential historic districts in the
survey area. All resources surveyed at the intensive level within the survey area were considered
during the historic district evaluations. National and California Register as well as local criteria
‘outlined in the Stockton Cultural Preservation Ordinance were applied during the district

evaluation.

Historic resources can be individually significant or they can be contributors to an historic
district. Historic districts are excellent planning tools as they recognize the associated value and ’
relationships between buildings, structures, objects, sites, and neighborhoods. In order to qualify
as a district under any of the criteria of ex}aluation, the resources must first possess significance.
Second, the significance must be derived from an understanding of the historic contexts
assdciated with the area or resources. Lastly, the district as a whole must possess integrity

including location, design, setting, workmanship, materials, feeling, and association.

Generally, historic districts possess a significant concentration, linkage, or continuity of sites,
- buildings, structures, or objects united historically or aesthetically by plan or physical
development. Districts have defined boundaries and are comprised of individual resources

identified as contributing and non-contributing to the district.

_Contributing resources add to the historic association, historic architectural qualities, or
archaeological values for which the district is significant because the resource was present during

the period of significance, relates to the documented significant contexts, and possesses integrity.

Non-contributing resources do not add to the historic associations, historic architectural qualities,
or archacological values for which the district is significant because the resource was not present
during the period of significance, does not relate to the docurnented significant contexts, or does

not possess integrity.
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East Channel / North Aurora Residential Historic District
The survey identified a small, residential historic district located in the 100 block of North

Aurora and the 900 block of East Channel. The North Aurora district contributors are located

- only on the east side of the block while the East Channel district contributors are located on both
- the north and south sides of the block. Each of the district contributors has Queen Anne detailing
and there are nine small cottages within the district that have similar architectural features and

" details. In fact 134 and 136 North Aurora Street, as well as 918, 924, and 928 - 930 are identical.
Additionally, 922 East Channel and 140 North Aurora are identical in their details. Lastly, 927
-929 and 917 - 923 East Channel ére identical houses. This grouping of nine historic cottages
were likely constructed for use by railroad employees, as a rail station has historically been
located in close‘proximity and a number of rail workers have been associated with these cottages
as discovefed thfough city diréctofy reseafch. ~Additionally, as these buildings possess similar
desigr; details, it is possible that these nine.cottages were designed and constructed by the same
residéntiai developer. There are several larger buildings along the south end of North Aurora

that also contribute to the district.

The group of houses within this district have similar architectural detailing and irregular
footprints. They are primarily raised one-and-a-half-story houses with gable and hip-on-gable
roofs. A prominent gable end facing the street frequently contains a small, square window
surrounded by fishscale shingles. The gables peaks each have a small finial. The front
elevations have a large three-sided bay with one-over-one, double-hung sash windows.

- Additional one-over-one, double-hung sash are located throughout these buildings. Adjacent to
the bay windows is a recessed porch of varying configurations with turned posts. The gable ends
above the porch have dropped pendants and scalloped wood detailing at the edges. The exterior
of these buildings appear to be in good condition and they retain a high degree of integrity
including location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. This is one

of the most intact grouping of Queen Anne cottages remaining in downtown Stockton.

The larger multi-family buildings within the district are important as they aid in understanding
the development of this area of Stockton. While single—family houses are frequently located

north of downtown, there are a number of both smaller apartment buildings and larger hotel .
buildings immediately adjacent and within the downtown area. The fourplex and duplex at the

south end of North Aurora have similar construction dates to the adjacent cottage grouping.
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The Queen Anne style was named and popularized by a group of English architects led by
Richard Norman Shaw. One of the first American houses of this style was in NeWpon Rhode
Island, in 1874. The expanding Americah rail lines helped popularized this style, as pre-made
architectural details were conveniently.available by pattern book ordering. The identifying
features of the Queen Anne include: steeply pitched roofs of irregular shape, usually with a
dominant front-facing gable; patterned shingles, porcheé with decorative turned posts, and
cutaway bay windows. These design details were used to avoid a smooth-walled a_ppeérance and
to give the building an asymmetrical appearance. Porches commonly wrapped around one or
both sides of the hoﬁse were common. These houses often had very distinctive patterns of
decoration, such as spindle work, lace-like brackets, Palladian windows, incised ornament, roof

cresting, or decorative stone.

The East Channel / North Aurora Residential historic district appears eligible for the National
Register at the local level under Criterion C as a grouping of resources that embodies the
distinctive qualities of a type, period or method of construction and that possess high artistic
values. This district is a unique resource within the context of Stockton's downtown area in fhat
it represents the residential buildings constructed to house Stockton's increasingly urban
workforce at the beginning of the twentieth century. This district is representative of the
building standards and architectural tastes of a specific period in time within Stockton. Dating to
the late 1890s, these resources are classic examples of the Queen Anne style of architecture and

have historically been used for residential purposes.

Similarly, these resources appear eligible for the California Register under Criterion 3: resources
that embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, regién, or method of construction, or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values. The district also meets the
criteria of an Historic Preservation District as defined in Stockton’s Cultural Preservation

Ordinance.

These resources meet the definition of an historic district as they possess a significant

concentration, linkage, or continuity of sites, buildings, structures, or objects united historically
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or aesthetically by plan or physical development. They form a unified grouping of resources

- sharing similar architectural characteristics.

East Channel / North Aurora Historic District Contributors
102 - 108 N. Aurora - fourplex

114 - 116 N. Aurora - duplex

134 N. Aurora - single family residence

136 N. Aurora - single family residence

140 N. Aurora - single family residence
-917 - 923 E. Channel (including buildings at rear of lot)
927 - 929 E. Channel (including buildings at rear of lot)
918 E. Channel - single family residence

922 E. Channel - single family residence

924 - 926 E. Channel - duplex

928 - 930 E. Channel - duplex
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North American / East Lindsay Residential Historic District
The survey identified a small, residential historic district located at the corner of North American

and East Lindsay. These four houses form a unique grouping within the survey area. The
buildings are almost identical in their detailing and were likely constructed by the same
developer. The buildings appear on the 1917 Sanborn Maps and have an estlmated 1902
construction date. The buildings reflect a simplified version of the Classical Revival house
popular during the post-Vlctonan era. At the beginning of the twentieth century, a national trend
toward the architectural past as demonstrated by the popular Revival styles that recalled the
styles of previous eras pervaded many American communities. Period Revival styles strayed
from the highly detailed, décorative and busy Victorian era styles such as the Qi).een Anne,
While these four, small houses have similar features to the Queen Anne such as side yard bay
windows the decorative detailing on the North American / East Lindsay Residential Historic

-District contributors is much more simplified.

The houses in this historic district are small, raised one-story, wood-framed buildings. The
houses either have hipped roqfs with small gable do_rme;s or a gable roof with a circular attic
vent. The fenestration used inc_ludes one-over-one, doubléehung wood windows surrounded by
wide wood trim. The buildings are clad in horizontal wood sidihg and have a recessed porch at
the .front corner. The porches are_accesséd by several wood steps, and a single square wood
column supports the porch roof. The structures rest on a reiised basement that has several small

rectangular casement windows.

The 1917 Sanborn Map indicates this group of houses was located several hundred feet from the
Minor S